No. 31944

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

---

CHARLESTON

---

## **II. STATEMENT OF FACTS**

The relevant facts in this matter are generally uncontroverted. Ms. Crock and Ms. Washington filed a grievance pursuant to the procedure contained in West Virginia Code § 18-29-1 *et seq.*<sup>1</sup> Subsequently, their grievance was heard by the West Virginia Education and State

---

<sup>1</sup> Ms. Crock's and Ms. Washington's grievances involved a reduction in pay related to experience credit were filed on April 12, 1999.

Employees Grievance Board, (Docket No. 99-17-431, April 26, 1999), appealed to the circuit court of Harrison County (Civil Action No. 00-C-154-1, May 8, 2000) and then to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals (No. 010407, February 5, 2001). Following a successful appeal, on March 25, 2002, attorney for the petitioners filed a Motion for Attorney Fees in the Circuit Court of Harrison County. In a ruling dated July 30, 2002, the circuit court ordered the Harrison County Board of Education to pay the petitioners attorney fees and costs in the amount of \$20,418.70.

This Order was not appealed. However, on June 3, 2003 the Board filed a "Motion for Relief from Order" pursuant to Rule 60(a) and (b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. The Board asserted that the Order dated July 30, 2002 contained a clerical error and that new evidence had been discovered. The court recognized that there was no new evidence. But, given the decision in *Wines v. Jefferson County Board of Education*, 213 W.Va. 379, 582 S.E.2d 826 (2003), concluded its earlier decision was premised upon legal mistake. The court, applying what petitioners assert is a misreading and clear misapplication of *Wines* and the principles of statutory construction, reversed its earlier decision and ruled that the petitioners' attorney fees were limited by W.Va. Code § 18A-2-11 to "One Thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) for the circuit court proceedings and One thousand Dollars (\$1,000.00) for proceedings before the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals."<sup>2</sup>

It is from this Order that Ms. Crock and Ms. Washington now appeal.

---

<sup>2</sup> In footnote two the circuit court did acknowledge that attorney's fees initially requested are still reasonable, but subject to the cap contained in West Virginia Code § 18A-2-11.

### **III. ASSIGNMENT OF ERRORS**

- A. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN GRANTING THE HARRISON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION'S RULE 60 MOTION.
- B. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS AND INTERPRETATION OF *WINES v. JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION*, 213 W.VA. 379, 582 S.E.2D 826 (2003).
- C. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES PURSUANT TO WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 18-29-8.
- D. THE CIRCUIT COURT OF HARRISON COUNTY ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 18A-2-11 IS MORE SPECIFIC THAN WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 18-29-8.

### **IV. POINTS AND AUTHORITIES**

#### **A. IN GRANTING THE BOARD'S RULE 60(b) MOTION BASED UPON A LEGAL MISTAKE, THE CIRCUIT COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION.**

In a Decision dated July 30, 2002, the circuit court ordered the Harrison County Board of Education to pay the appellants the amount of \$20,418.70 in attorney fees and costs. This Order was not appealed. On June 3, 2003 the Board filed a Motion for Relief from Order pursuant to Rule 60(a) and (b) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure, asserting that the original Order contained a clerical mistake and that new evidence had been discovered.

However, the Board's best argument for granting Rule 60 relief was not made by the Board. Because the Board's arguments were not sufficient for granting its Rule 60(b) Motion, the circuit court took it upon itself to articulate what the appellants assert to be an insufficient, but at least rational, basis for a Rule 60 Motion. The circuit court's conclusions can be summarized as follows: Because months after the time for appeal had lapsed, the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals issued a decision which the circuit court interprets as opposed to its holding in this case,

the circuit court finds its initial decision contained a mistake of law and should therefore be reconsidered. The appellants assert that this reason does not form a sufficient basis for granting the Motion.

Looking first at the reasoning set forth by the Board, it is clear that Rule 60(a) is not applicable in this situation. Rule 60(a) provides relief from judgement in the event of a clerical error made through oversight or omission which are part of the record and is not intended to adversely affect the rights of parties or alter the substance of the order, judgement or record beyond what was intended.<sup>3</sup> *Johnson v. Nedeff*, 192 W.Va. 260, 452 S.E.2d 63 (1994). In *Woods v. Guerra*, 187 W.Va. 487, 419 S.E.2d 900 (1992) this Court ruled that it is inappropriate to use Rule 60(a) to "correct" an order where the substance of the order is changed by the amendment.

The Board's second argument was based on an assertion of newly discovered evidence. Rule 60(b) provides that an Order may be set aside for several reasons, including newly discovered evidence or mistake. The rule, in pertinent part, states:

(b) *Mistakes; inadvertence; excusable neglect; unavoidable cause; newly discovered evidence; fraud, etc.* - On motion and upon such terms as are just, the court may relieve a party or a party's legal representative from a final judgment, order, or proceeding for the following reasons: (1) Mistake, inadvertence, surprise, excusable neglect, or unavoidable cause; (2) newly discovered evidence which by due diligence could not have been discovered in time to move for a new trial under Rule 59 (b)...or (6) any other reason justifying relief from the operation of the judgment.

---

<sup>3</sup> Rule 60(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure provides:  
(a) *Clerical mistakes.*- Clerical mistakes in judgements, orders or other parts of the record and errors therein arising from oversight or omission may be corrected by the court at any time of its own initiative or on the motion of any party and after such notice, if any, as the court orders. During the pendency of an appeal, such mistakes may be so corrected before the appeal is docketed in the appellate court, and thereafter while the appeal is pending may be so corrected with leave of the appellate court.

The Board's argument that there was newly discovered evidence is clearly without basis. Not only did it not exist, no one set forth any new facts as a basis for an argument such evidence may exist. Upon receiving the Motion, the circuit court, apparently concerned about the inconsistency between its ruling in *Harrison County Board of Education v. Constance Buffey*, Civil Action No. 01-C-213-1 (February 2004) and this matter, relied on this Court's decision in *Zirkle v. Zirkle*, 208 W.Va. 374, 540 S.E.2d 591 (2000) (per curiam) and chose to view Respondent's Motion as a Rule 60(b) Motion brought on the basis of a "legal mistake." Memorandum Opinion, p. 7-8.

The appellants recognize that Rule 60 is remedial in nature and should be liberally construed to accomplish justice, in as much courts favor adjudication of cases on their merits. *Hamilton Watch Co. v. Atlas*, 156 W.Va. 52, 190 S.E.2d 779 (1972). Thus, it is most often applied to situations, where, in contrast to this case, the facts were not fully litigated, *i.e.*, where the court has granted default or summary judgement. *See, e.g. Delapp v. Delapp*, 213 W.Va. 757, 584 S.E.2d 899 (2003). But no matter how liberal the construction, this rule does not bestow upon the party that does not prevail *carte blanche* to ignore the rules governing time for appeals and principles relevant to retroactive application of law. In this instance, the circuit court has abused its discretion by: (1) misapplying the law set forth in *Wines*; (2) by retroactively applying the law; and (3) by ignoring the parameters set forth by this Court when granting a Rule 60(b) motion based upon mistake of law.

One of the purposes of Rule 60(b) is to provide a mechanism for instituting a collateral attack on a final judgement in a civil action when certain extraordinary circumstances are present. *Hustead v. Ashland Oil Co.*, 197 W.Va. 55, 475 S.E.2d 55 (1996). In *Downing v. Ashley*, 193

W.Va. 77, 454 S.E.2d 371 (1994), the Court sets forth the requirements for proceeding under Rule 60(b):

In order to obtain relief from a final judgment, order or proceeding through an independent action, the independent action must contain the following elements: (1) the final judgment, order or proceeding from which relief is sought must be one that, in equity and good conscience, should not be enforced; (2) the party seeking relief should have a good defense to the cause of action upon which the final judgement, order or proceeding is based; (3) there must have been fraud, accident or mistake that prevented the party seeking relief from obtaining the benefit of his defense; (4) there must be absence of fault or negligence on the part of the party seeking relief; and (5) there must be no adequate legal remedy.

193 W.Va. at 80. Where such extraordinary circumstances are absent, a collateral attack is inappropriate for attempting to defeat a final judgement. *See, Coffman v. West Virginia DMV*, 209 W.Va. 736, 551 S.E.2d 658 (2001); *Hustead ex rel Atkins v. Ashland Oil, Inc.* 197 W.Va. 55, 475 S.E.2d 55 (1996). Here, there are no extraordinary circumstances. Because this Court has stated that the requirements must be met, the requirements are mandatory. *See, e.g., State ex rel. Aaron v. King*, 199 W.Va. 533, 485 S.E.2d 702 (1997). The Board has not met these mandatory requirements.

One of the requirements is that a party seeking relief is required to have a good defense. The "defense" of the Board is a an argument that this Court has ruled on the issue of attorney fees received pursuant to West Virginia Code § 18-29-8 and seeks to have retroactive application of what it believes to be the holding in that case. But, *Wines* did not discuss, let alone resolve, the conflict between the statutes at issue in this matter. Therefore, there is no legal basis or reason that good conscience demands the reopening of this case. And, even if the circuit court and the Board are correct in their interpretation of *Wines*, seeking retroactive application of that decision does

not promote the principles of “equity” or “good faith”. Next, there was no fraud, accident or mistake that prevented the Board from “obtaining the benefit of [its] defense.” And finally, the Board had a remedy at law, *i.e.*, appeal of the circuit court decision, and chose not to exercise that right. To the extent that the Board failed to exercise that right, the Board, the party seeking relief, was negligent. The factors set forth in *Downing* are not met in this instance and the Rule 60 (b) Motion granted on the grounds not argued by the Board should be reversed.

Second, Rule 60(b) motions should not be used as an excuse to relitigate matters fully litigated below or as a substitute for an appeal. The Board fully litigated the matter and had the opportunity to file an appeal, but failed to do so. *See, Johnson v. Nedeff*, 192 W.Va. 260, 452 S.E.2d 63 (1994). Motions under subsection (b) that seek to relitigate legal issues heard at the underlying proceeding are without merit. *Powderidge Unit Owners Association v. Highland Properties, Ltd.*, 196 W.Va. 692, 474 S.E.2d 872 (1996). The Board should not be allowed to relitigate a matter where all the evidence was heard, there were no extraordinary circumstances, the law as understood at that time was followed, a final order entered and an appeal had not been filed.

Finally, the circuit court erred when it employed the notion of “legal mistake” to retroactively misapply the principles set forth by this Court in *Wines*. Here, there was no legal mistake constituting extraordinary circumstances. In applying the concept of legal mistake as a basis for a Rule 60(b) motion, the circuit court relied on *Zirkle v. Zirkle*, 208 W.Va. 374, 540 S.E.2d 591 (2000) (per curiam) which held that a Rule 60(b) Motion is appropriate to correct a mistake in law. This matter differs from *Zirkle* in two major respects. First, the error in *Zirkle* was a mistake in the application of clear, long standing statutory provisions. As the court noted,

in *Zirkle* the legislature had clearly established the standard for review and the circuit court applied the wrong standard. In contrast, the issue before the circuit court in *Crock and Washington* involves construing conflicting statutory provisions and is a matter of first impression now before this Court. There was no transgression of any clear legal principle. Second, the nature of the case was a child custody matter where the court has continuing jurisdiction.

Even if the circuit court's application and interpretation of *Wines* was correct, using *Wines*, which was not decided until over eight months after the initial circuit court decision, to reverse its decision is, in effect, giving *Wines* retroactive application. The court correctly applied the law as it believed existed on July 30, 2002. Because retroactivity of case law is permitted only under very limited circumstances, the court's retroactive application of *Wines* should be reversed. *See, e.g., State v. Davidson*, 209 W.Va. 303, 547 S.E.2d 241 (2001); *Walker v. Doe*, 210 W.Va. 490, 558 S.E.2d 290 (2001).

In this matter, there was no mistake. The circuit court applied the law as it believed existed on July 30, 2002. In granting the Board's 60(b) Motion, the circuit court applied dubious "precedent" and allowed the Board to relitigate an issue that should have been appealed.

**B. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN ITS ANALYSIS AND APPLICATION OF THE DECISION IN *WINES V. JEFFERSON COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION*, 213 W.VA. 379, 582 S.E.2D 826 (2003).**

The circuit court used *Wines v. Jefferson County Board of Education*, 213 W.Va. 379, 582 S.E.2d 826 (2003) as precedent to reverse its decision granting the petitioners reasonable attorney fees pursuant to West Virginia Code § 18-29-8. The circuit court concluded: "In light of the *Wines* decision, the Court has reconsidered its July 30, 2002 Order awarding attorney fees pursuant to W. Va. Code § 18A-29-8." In footnote two, the circuit court explained that because the attorney

fees granted in *Wines* were based upon West Virginia Code § 18A-2-11, it believed that the provisions of § 18A-2-11 should be applied to all education grievance cases.

But, as a matter of law, the *Wines* decision can not be used as precedent for the resolution of the question now before the Court. It is well established that a question of law not brought before the court can not be considered as decided in subsequent cases involving the same question. Furthermore, statements not necessary to the decision are mere dicta and do not have precedential value. *See, e.g., Carolina Clipper, Inc. v. Axe*, 902 F. Supp. 680 (E.D.Va. 1995); *Walker v. Doe*, 210 W.Va. 490, 558 S.E.2d 290 (2001); *In re Assessment of Kanawha Valley Bank*, 144 W.Va. 346, 109 S.E.2d 649 (1959). As the circuit court itself noted, the issue of attorney fees was not raised by the appellant in *Wines*. And, it is uncontroverted that in *Wines*, the apparent conflict of statutes, the issue before this court, was not raised, addressed or decided.

In order to fully appreciate the problems inherent in the circuit court's reasoning in regards to the application of *Wines*, it is instructive to review pages ten through twelve of its Memorandum Opinion. The Memorandum declares that the court researched the issue and cites seven cases.<sup>4</sup> None of those cases supports the court's conclusions. The court acknowledges that only five of these cases were decided after the 1992 amendments (*Weimer-Goodwin*, *Smith* and *Parker* were pre-1992 cases). Of the five post 1992 cases, there are two (*Graf* and *Andrews*)

---

<sup>4</sup> *Wines v. Jefferson County Board of Education*, 213 W.Va. 379, 582 S.E.2d 826 (2003); *Parker v. Summers County Board of Education*, 185 W.Va. 313, 406 S.E.2d 744 (1991); *Weimer-Goodwin v. Board of Education of Upshur County*, 179 W.Va. 423, 369 S.E.2d 726 (1988); *Smith v. Board of Education of Logan County*, 176 W.Va. 65, 341 S.E.2d 685 (1985); *Putnam County Board of Education v. Andrews*, 198 W.Va. 403, 481 S.E.2d 498 (1996); *University of West Virginia Board of Trustees ex rel. West Virginia University v. Graf*, 205 W.Va. 118, 516 S.E.2d 741 (1998) (per curiam); *Maikotter v. University of West Virginia Board of Trustees/West Virginia University*, 206 W.Va. 691, 527 S.E.2d 802 (1999); and *Maxey v. McDowell County Board of Education*, 212 W.Va. 668, 575 S.E.2d 778 (2002).

where no attorney fees were awarded for reasons unrelated to this case (the grievant did not prevail or statutory immunity). In two of the remaining three cases, this Court awarded attorney fees pursuant to West Virginia Code § 18-29-8. The circuit court's comments on these cases illustrate its misinformed and misguided analysis.<sup>5</sup> The court speculates that "perhaps" the reason attorney fees were granted pursuant to §18-29-8 in *Maikotter* was the statute does not apply to county board employees.<sup>6</sup> A reading of West Virginia Code § 18-29-1 and § 29-6A-1 clearly indicates that § 18-29-8 applies almost exclusively to county board employees while West Virginia Code § 29-6A-1 covers higher education and other state employees. In discussing *Maxey v. McDowell County Board of Education*, 212 W.Va. 668, 575 S.E.2d 778 (2002), the circuit court dismisses the holding by declaring it is unclear whether the reference to "the limited attorney fees prescribed in West Virginia Code" was an inadvertent reference to West Virginia Code § 18A-2-11. The circuit court found that it could not reconcile *Maxey* with *Wines*, but that because *Wines* was more recent, the court concluded it was constrained in its award of attorney fees to the limits contained in West Virginia Code § 18A-2-11.

---

<sup>5</sup> Further evidence of a lack of understanding of legislation affecting school boards and their employees is demonstrated by the court noting that "upon second thought and after performing further research" that the provisions of West Virginia Code § 18A-1-2 (1969) repeals "the provisions of any articles ...of the Code of West Virginia , one thousand nine hundred thirty-one, as amended, which are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter [Chapter 18A]". The 1969 statutory amendment have no relevance to this current case. In 1969, neither West Virginia Code § 18-29-1 nor the 1992 amendments were in existence. Counsel for the appellants does not mean these arguments to be in any manner disrespectful to the Circuit Court of Harrison County which she holds in high regard. It has been her experience, however, that new law clerks may not initially grasp the complexities of employment issues in administrative law, issues which are not often encountered in the general practice of law.

<sup>6</sup> In fact, *Maikotter* is a higher education case and West Virginia Code § 18-29-1 no longer applies to higher education.

Disregard for the clear language contained in case law, speculation and reading between the lines does not establish legal precedent. The circuit court's reliance on *Wines* to deny reasonable attorney fees as established by the court is clearly misplaced.

**C. THE CIRCUIT COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO AWARD REASONABLE ATTORNEY FEES PURSUANT TO WEST VIRGINIA CODE § 18-29-8.**

1. INTRODUCTION

The interpretation and application of West Virginia Code § 18-29-8 significantly impacts county school board employees. To determine the relationship of West Virginia Code § 18A-2-11 to § 18-29-8, it is necessary to apply the rules of statutory construction. Where two statutory provisions apply to the facts before a court, a court must, if reasonably possible, harmonize the statutes. The primary object when construing the statute is to ascertain and give effect to the intention of the legislature. *See, e.g., Snider v. West Virginia Dept. of Commerce*, 190 W.Va. 642, 441 S.E.2d 363 (1994). The problems associated with attempting to determine “the mind of the legislature” in this matter are reflected by the variety of arguments and the cases cited to support the propositions set forth by the parties. This process is made particularly murky by the patchwork history of the relevant statutory provisions and occluded by irrelevant arguments.<sup>7</sup>

---

<sup>7</sup> For example, the Harrison County Board makes the argument that West Virginia Code § 29-6A-1 is analogous and there is a cap on attorney fees in that code section. The statutes are not analogous in that the statutory language of West Virginia Code § 29-6A-10 differs considerably from the language of West Virginia Code § 18-29-8. The former clearly contains a cap, the latter refers to “reasonable attorney fees.” The Board makes other arguments concerning veterans’ statutes. The purported purpose behind the veterans’ law is to protect the veteran. There is a built in presumption that the veteran’s administration will protect the interest of the veteran. The law states that the veteran can not be charged for legal services. This often results in family members or friends paying the attorney at the early stages of administrative appeals.

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