NO. 31944

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

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

W.Va. Code § 18A-2-11(1985) (some emphasis in original; some emphasis added).

In 1992, the West Virginia Legislature passed an act, *inter alia*, to amend Sections 18-29-1 and 18-29-8 relating to grievance procedures for education employees and "authorizing court to set costs and reasonable attorneys fees to employee prevailing upon appeal to circuit court or supreme court." The amendments to Section 18-29-1, relate to the abolishment of the board of regents and are not relevant to this appeal. As amended in 1992, Section 18-29-8, reads in its entirety:

Any expenses incurred relative to the grievance procedure at levels one through three shall be borne by the party incurring such expenses except as to the costs of transcriptions as provided for in section six of this article.

In the event an employee or employer appeals an adverse level four decision to the circuit court or an adverse circuit court decision to the supreme court, and the employee substantially prevails upon such appeal, the employee or the organization representing the employee is entitled to recover court costs and *reasonable attorney fees, to be set by the court*, from the employer.

W. Va. Code §18-29-8 (1992) (emphasis added).

### **C. Canons of Statutory Construction.**

This Court has held that in any search for the meaning or proper applications of a statute, it should first resort to the language itself. *Maikotter v. University of W. Va. Bd. of Trs. W. Va. Univ.*, 206 W. Va. 691, 527 S.E.2d 802, 807 (1999). "Where the language of a statute is clear and without ambiguity the plain meaning is to be accepted without resorting to the rules of interpretation." *Id.* (citations omitted); *Michael v. Marion County Bd. of Educ.*, 198 W. Va. 523, 482 S.E.2d 140 (1996); *Byrd v. Board of Educ.*, 196 W. Va. 1, 467 S.E.2d 142 (1995). *Cf. Keatley v. Mercer County Bd. of Educ.*, 200 W. Va. 487, 490 S.E.2d 306, 311 n. 7 (1997) (observing that legislative intent, rather than strict language, controls in rare case in which literal application of statute will produce result demonstrably at odds with intentions of drafters). Accordingly, when a statute is clear and unambiguous and the legislative intent is plain, it is the duty of this Court not to interpret or to construe the statute but to simply apply the statute. *Carvey v. West Virginia State Bd. of Educ.*, 206 W. Va. 720, 527 S.E.2d 831 (1999).

In addition, this Court has held that "[i]n ascertaining legislative intent, effect must be given to each part of the statute and to the statute as a whole so as to accomplish the general purpose of the legislation." *Keatley*, 490 S.E.2d at 310 (citations omitted). *See Smith v. United States*, 508 U.S. 223, 113 S. Ct. 2050, 124 L. Ed. 2d 138 (1993) (observing that "[t]he meaning of a word that appears ambiguous if viewed in isolation [will] become clear when the word is analyzed in light of the terms that surround it"). Thus, courts apply the canon of statutory construction called *noscitur a solis* to hold that a word is known by the company it keeps. *Keatley*, 490 S.E.2d at 314 n. 10; *Martin v. Randolph County Bd. of Educ.*, 195 W. Va. 297, 465 S.E.2d 399, 414 n. 10 (1995). *Cf. Osborne v. United States*, 211 W. Va. 667, 567 S.E.2d 677 (2002) (explaining that in the interpretation of

statutes, words and phrases therein are often limited in meaning and effect by necessary implications arising from other words or clauses thereof).

Moreover, the Legislature is presumed to know of prior enactments and have full knowledge of all laws in the area in which it acts. *West Virginia Educ. Ass'n v. Preston County Bd. of Educ.*, 171 W. Va. 38, 297 S.E.2d 444, 447 n. 3 (1982). Accordingly, where a statute contains several sections relating to the same subject, the section that is more specific with regard to the subject will control over the more general section. *State by West Virginia Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Hillyard*, 172 W. Va. 605, 309 S.E.2d 105 (1983); *Cropp v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r*, 160 W. Va. 621, 236 S.E.2d 480 (1977).

Finally, in *Ebbert v. Tucker*, 123 W. Va. 385, 15 S.E.2d 583 (1941), this Court held:

In the construction of a statute, a court should seek to avoid any conflict in its provisions by endeavoring to reconcile every word, section, or part thereof, so that each shall be effective.

Where a statute lends itself to two constructions, one of which will result in an irreconcilable conflict between its provisions and the other will result in no conflict, the construction resulting in no conflict should be adopted.

Where there is a conflict between two parts of a single act, the one latest in position will be declared to be the law, as containing the latest expression of the legislative will, *but that rule of construction should be applied only where there exists an irreconcilable conflict between different sections of the same act, and after there are no other means available for ascertaining the legislative intent.*

*Id.* at Syl. Pts. (Emphasis added). *See also Kelley & Moyers v. Bowman*, 68 W. Va. 49, 69 S.E.2d 456 (1910) (holding that clearly expressed intent by plain words in one part of statute cannot be defeated by mere implication from doubtful clause in another part, and that if subsequent clause in statute is obscure, it will not control previous clear clause).

**D. The Provisions in Section 18A-2-11 do not Conflict with, but Rather Supplement, the Provision in Section 18-29-8.**

---

This Court should affirm the circuit court's judgment because the provisions in West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-11 do not conflict with, but rather supplement the provision in West Virginia Code Section 18-29-8. Both Sections 18A-2-11 and 18-29-8 specify that an employee who substantially prevails is entitled to "reasonable attorney[']s fees, to be set by the court."<sup>2</sup> Section 18A-2-11, which is specifically limited in its application to employees of county boards of education in certain proceedings, supplements Section 18-29-8 by defining "reasonable attorney['s] fee, to be set by the court" as limited to "a total of [\$1,000] for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings [and] an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings."<sup>3</sup>

Section 18A-2-11 is a textbook example of the application of *noscitur a soliis* – the term "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" in Section 18A-2-11 is known by the company it keeps, and that company is "a total of [\$1,000] for the administrative hearings and circuit court

---

<sup>2</sup>The only distinction between these provisions is purely grammatical. Section 18A-2-11 uses the possessive term "attorney's fees," while Section 18-29-8 uses the simple term "attorney fees." This grammatical distinction makes no legal difference.

<sup>3</sup>This limitation is expressed in a proviso. In *State v. Ellsworth*, 175 W. Va. 64, 331 S.E.2d 503, Syl. Pt. 2 (1985), this Court held that "[t]he function of a proviso in a statute is to modify, restrain, or conditionally qualify the preceding subject to which it refers." *See also Robbins v. McDowell County Bd. of Educ.*, 186 W. Va. 141, 411 S.E.2d 466, Syl. Pt. 5 (1991). Similarly, it has been stated that "[p]rovisos serve the purpose of restricting the operative effect of statutory language to less than what its scope of operation would be otherwise." *State ex rel. Browne v. Hechler*, 197 W. Va. 612, 476 S.E.2d 559, 561 (1996) (citations omitted). *See also* 1A Norman J. Singer, *Sutherland Statutes & Statutory Construction* § 21:6 (stating that "[w]hen an act is drafted in general terms its limitation may be achieved through the use of the proviso, exception, or saving clause"). As this Court observed in *Charter Communications VI, PLLC v. Community Antenna Service, Inc.*, 211 W. Va. 71, 561 S.E.2d 793, 798 (2002), provisos should be construed using the same general rules of construction applied to other kinds of statutory terms.

proceedings [and] an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings." The modifying phrase in Section 18A-2-11 indicates that the term "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" has a more specific connotation in that section than in Section 18-29-8, where no modifier is used. See *Keatley v. Mercer County Bd. of Educ.*, 200 W. Va. 487, 490 S.E.2d 306, 314 n. 14 (1997) (applying *noscitur a soliis* to hold that the fact that term "experience" was modified by terms "amount" and "existence" in separate provisions of statute, counsel in favor of "experience" taking on different connotations depending upon different modifiers).

Furthermore, because the Legislature is presumed to know of prior enactments and to have full knowledge of all laws in the area in which it acts, see *West Virginia Educ. Ass'n v. Preston County Bd. of Educ.*, 171 W. Va. 38, 297 S.E.2d 444, 447 n. 3 (1982), the specific provisions in Section 18A-2-11 control to supplement the more general provision in Section 18-29-8. See *State by W. Va. Dept. of Motor Vehicles v. Hillyard*, 172 W. Va. 605, 309 S.E.2d 105 (1983); *Cropp v. State Workmen's Comp. Comm'r*, 160 W. Va. 621, 236 S.E.2d 480 (1977).

This Court has held that "[r]epeal of statutes by implication is not favored and can arise only in cases of irreconcilable conflict or inconsistency." *Smith v. Siders*, 155 W. Va. 193, 183 S.E.2d 433, 437 (1971). Construing West Virginia law, the Fourth Circuit has recognized that repeal by implication is not favored, and has applied the rule that the specific statute should control over the general. In *Niagra Fire Insurance Co. v. Raleigh Hardware Co.*, 62 F.2d 705 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1933), the court explained the rule as follows:

The rule is well settled that 'where there are two statutes upon the same subject, the earlier being special and the later general, the presumption is, in the absence of an express repeal, or an absolute incompatibility, that the special is intended to remain in force as an exception to the general.'

'The reason and philosophy of the rule is, that when the mind of the legislator has been turned to the details of a subject, and he has acted upon it, a subsequent statute in general terms or treating the subject in a general manner, and not expressly contradicting the original act, shall not be considered as intended to affect the more particular or positive previous provisions, unless it is absolutely necessary to give the latter act such a construction in order that its words shall have any meaning at all.'

*Id.* at 709. See also *Kelley & Moyers v. Bowman*, 68 W. Va. 49, 69 S.E. 456 (1910) (holding that subsequent clause in statute which is obscure does not control over previous clear clause).

In this action as well, repeal by implication is not warranted because the provisions in West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-11 do not conflict with, but rather supplement the provision in West Virginia Code Section 18-29-8. Indeed, this Court has previously held that Chapter 18A supplements Chapter 18 of the West Virginia Code. See *Smith*, 183 S.E.2d at 437. In *Smith*, this Court held that in a case in which a county superintendent of schools was removed from office by the county board of education and the superintendent appealed from the action of the board to the state superintendent pursuant to West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-8, the action of the state superintendent in entertaining the appeal and in reversing the action of the county board of education was void because no notice of the appeal was given to the board of education and no opportunity to be heard in the appellate proceedings was afforded the county board of education or the individual members thereof. *Id.* at Syl. Pt. 2. The Court explained:

*Code, 1931, 18A-1-2, as enacted in 1969, provides that any other provisions of the Code "which are inconsistent with the provisions of this chapter, are hereby repealed to the extent of such inconsistency."* No other provision of the Code, by specific reference, is expressly repealed by Chapter 18A. If any other statutory provision is thereby repealed, it must, therefore, necessarily be a repeal by implication. Repeal of statutes by implication is not favored and can arise only in cases of irreconcilable conflict or inconsistency. *State ex rel. Warder v. Gainer*, 153 W. Va. 35, pt. 6 syl., 167 S.E.2d 290; *State ex rel. City of Wheeling v. Renick*, 145 W. Va. 640, pts. 1 and 2 syl., 116 S.E.2d 763. *We do not perceive any such inconsistency between any of the provisions of Chapter 18 and any of the provisions of Chapter 18A. Both relate*

*to public schools, county boards of education, personnel employed by such boards and other related matters.* Code, 1931, 18-4-3, as amended, and Section 8 of Article 2 of Chapter 18A, as amended, relate to removal of county superintendents by county boards of education. The two statutes provide quite similar grounds for removal. *The statutes, generally speaking, relate to the same subject matter. The two chapters of the Code, though not enacted at the same time, should be considered in pari materia and, therefore, they should be read and considered together.* *State v. Reel*, 152 W. Va. 646, pt. 1 syl., 165 S.E.2d 813; *State ex rel. Campbell v. Wood*, 151 W. Va. 807, pt. 1 syl., 155 S.E.2d 893; *Owens-Illinois Glass Company v. Battle*, 151 W. Va. 655, pt. 1 syl., 154 S.E.2d 854. The provision in Chapter 18A for appeal to the State Superintendent of Schools is perhaps supplemental to but not in conflict with any provision of Chapter 18.

*Id.*, 183 S.E.2d at 437 (emphasis added).

In addition, in *Harmon v. Fayette County Bd. of Educ.*, 205 W. Va. 125, 516 S.E.2d 748, 751 (1999), this Court held that, in light of facts that West Virginia Code Section 18A-1-2 repealed provisions of law inconsistent with Chapter 18A and that Chapters 18 and 18A are to be read *in pari materia*, attendance employees should be considered "school personnel" as defined in West Virginia Code Section 18A-1-1(a). Accordingly, the Court proceeded with the premise that the appellants in that case were "school personnel who are subject to the definitions and distinctions in Chapter 18A." *Id.* See also *State ex rel. Boner v. Kanawha County Bd. of Educ.*, 197 W. Va. 176, 475 S.E.2d 176, 183 (1996) (holding that being teacher as defined in West Virginia Code Section 18-1-1(g) contemplates employment covered by teacher's contract under West Virginia Code Section 18A-2-2).

Although this Court has never decided the precise question raised herein, the Attorney General has argued that the analogous provisions in West Virginia Code Section 29-6A-10 govern an award of attorney's fees to state employees. See *University of W. Va. Bd. of Trs. v. Graf*, 205 W. Va. 118, 516 S.E.2d 741 (1998) (disposing of case on other grounds and, therefore, declining to

rule on appellant's argument that circuit court erred by not applying Section 29-6A-10 in limiting attorney fees to \$2000). The provisions in Section 29-6A-10 are substantially similar in all relevant respects to the provisions of Section 18A-2-11. Similar to Section 18A-2-11, Section 29-6A-10 supplements Section 18-29-8 by defining the "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" as limited to "a total of [\$1,500] for the administrative hearings and circuit court proceedings [and] an additional [\$1,000] for supreme court proceedings."

Both Sections 18A-2-11 and 29-6A-10 define the "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" where certain employees of county boards of education and the state substantially prevail in certain proceedings. In other cases, where employees of the additional institutions within the scope of Section 18-29-8 substantially prevail, "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" may not be limited by such specific provisions. Thus, the term "reasonable attorney's fees, to be set by the court" in Section 18-29-8 is not rendered meaningless by this construction of Section 18A-2-11; it is merely further defined for purposes of employees of county boards of education in Section 18A-2-11, and for employees of the state in Section 29-6A-10.<sup>4</sup>

Without expressly discussing the issue raised in this appeal, this Court has recently applied Section 18A-2-11 to limit an attorney's fee award to an employee of a county board of education. *See Wines v. Jefferson County Bd. of Educ.*, 213 W. Va. 379, 582 S.E.2d 826 (2003) (per curiam). In *Wines*, a former substitute school custodian sought judicial review of a decision of the West

---

<sup>4</sup>In *Stanley v. Department of Tax and Revenue*, No. 31859 (W. Va.), which has been consolidated with this appeal for purposes of argument, consideration and decision, the issue before the Court is whether the attorney's fees cap in Section 29-6A-10 should apply "per grievance" or "per grievant." In this appeal, Crock and Washington have not argued that the attorney's fees cap in Section 18A-2-11 should apply per grievant.

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